FILED
Court of Appeals
Division III
State of Washington
6/11/2020 3:39 PM
98651-7

FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
6/12/2020
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON
CLERK

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

COA No. 368220 - III

JENS RICHTER, as an individual d/b/a GLOBAL EQUINE SIRES and A-1 PERFORMANCE SIRES, Plaintiff/Appellant/Petitioner

vs.

ALLIE HELINSKI and BRENT HELINSKI, individually and the marital community thereof,

Defendants/Respondents

### PETITION FOR REVIEW

CHAD FREEBOURN
WSBA #35624
ROBERTS | FREEBOURN, PLLC
1325 W. 1st Ave., Suite 303
Spokane, Washington 99201
(509) 381-5262
Attorney for Petitioner

###

### IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

### A. Background:

Petitioner Jens Richter ("Richter") owns and operates Global Equine Sires ("Global") and A-1 Performance Sires ("A-1"), which is in the business of selling high-end horse semen online to customers. CP 4-6. On June 3, 2016, Richter, who already owned Global, purchased A-1 from Respondent Allie Helinski. CP 48; 55. Per the parties' agreement, Ms. Helinski continued to work as an independent contractor for Richter selling horse semen and would receive 10% from each sale she made. CP 49. After purchasing A-1 from Ms. Helinski, Richter maintained a semen inventory with Ms. Helinski in the State of Washington. CP 48-51.

In August of 2018, Richter was contacted by customers of A-1 who had purchased semen through Ms. Helinski with numerous complaints. CP 5. Richter received complaints from A-1 customers including: (1) the customers were being charged for semen that they did not order; (2) customers were being sent empty straws containing no semen; (3) customers were sent ineffective semen straws; and (4) customers were being charged and were not being sent any semen at all. CP 49. Richter had no knowledge of these transactions being made by

Ms. Helinski, he did not receive the orders, and he did not receive the corresponding payments. CP 5. Ms. Helinski was using Richter's business, A-1, to make these unauthorized sales, was keeping the money, and not providing the corresponding product to the customers. CP 3-11; 48-51; 57-64; 68-70.

Ms. Helinski maintained a cryogenic tank housing a large inventory of frozen straws containing horse semen for Richter on her property in Washington State. CP 49-51. Richter made several requests for Ms. Helinski to return the tank in her possession, and she failed to return the tank to Richter. CP 49-51. The total value of horse semen inventory contained in the tank possessed by Ms. Helinski is \$295,550.00. CP 50; 66.

As a result of the customer complaints as stated above, and because Ms. Helinski refused to return Richter's tank containing his horse semen inventory, Richter filed suit against Ms. Helinski and her husband, Brent Helinski, in Spokane County Superior Court. CP 1-11. Richter's lawsuit seeks damages as well as an injunction for injunctive relief. CP 1-11.

### B. Superior Court Procedural History

On August 20, 2018, Richter caused a cease and desist letter to be personally served on Ms. Helinski. CP 211-212. On August 29, 2018,

Richter filed a Summons and Complaint against the Respondents in Spokane County Superior Court. CP 1-11. On August 31, 2018, Ms. Helinski was personally served with the Summons and Complaint. CP 13. On September 14, 2018, Richter caused a letter to be sent to Ms. Helinski demanding the return of the tank in her possession containing Richter's horse semen. CP 216. The letter demanding Ms. Helinski return the tank to Richter was sent six days prior to the answer to the lawsuit being due. CP 216. The demand letter also indicated the intent to file for an injunction to prevent further unauthorized sales and that further legal action would be taken to obtain Richter's property from Ms. Helinski if no response was received by the end of business on September 21, 2018. CP 216. Ms. Helinski never responded to Richter's demand letter.

On September 24, 2108, after receiving neither a response to his demand letter, nor a notice of appearance or answer from Ms. Helinski to the lawsuit, Richter caused an order of default to be entered against Ms. Helinski without notice. CP 225-226. On September 26, 2018, Brent Helinski was personally served with a copy of the Summons and Complaint. CP 24. On October 5, 2018, 12-days after the order of default was entered against Ms. Helinski, attorney Robert Sargent left a voicemail for Richter's attorney, Chad Freebourn, indicating he was hired by Ms. Helinski. CP 206; 225-226. Because Mr. Freebourn was busy preparing

for three trials, he never returned Mr. Sargent's voicemail. CP 206. Mr. Freebourn did not intentionally avoid speaking to Mr. Sargent. CP 206.

Unbeknownst to counsel for Richter, on or about September 15, 2018, Ms. Helinski had met with and apparently hired attorney Robert Sargent to defend her against the claims asserted in Richter's lawsuit. CP 142. At no time after Mr. Sargent met with Ms. Helinski did Mr. Sargent ever formally appear, answer or defend the lawsuit. CP 206-207; RP 20, ln. 10-14. On October 17, 2018, after neither Respondents had appeared, answered or otherwise tried to defend the lawsuit, and second order of default was entered against Mr. Helinski. CP 222-223.

Between October 22, 2018, and October 25, 2018, almost a month after the first default order was entered against Ms. Helinski, and after the second default order was entered against Mr. Helinski, Mr. Sargent appeared at the office of Richter's counsel and left a business card. CP 207. On October 26, 2018, attorney Victoria Johnston, co-counsel for Richter, had a telephone discussion with Mr. Sargent regarding the lawsuit wherein Mr. Sargent indicated he was helping a friend. CP 194-195; 199. Ms. Johnston was familiar with Mr. Sargent during her time working as a public defender for Spokane County, and did not have an understanding Mr. Sargent was privately practicing civil law because Mr. Sargent had been a prosecutor. CP 195. Ms. Johnston informed Mr. Sargent that

Richter wanted the tank containing his horse semen inventory in Ms. Helinski's possession returned as soon as possible. CP 195.

After speaking with Mr. Sargent on October 26, 2018, Ms. Johnston was unsure who Mr. Sargent was representing in the lawsuit, therefore she sent Mr. Sargent an email on October 30, 2018. CP 195; 203. In Ms. Johnston's October 30, 2018, email, she requested, "please clarify who you represent in this matter." CP 203. Mr. Sargent replied to Ms. Johnston's email the same day and indicated he would get back to Ms. Johnston later that same day or the next morning. CP 203. After sending this response email, Mr. Sargent never made contact with Richter's counsel again. CP 207. At no time, did Mr. Sargent ever file a notice of appearance, an answer, or provide any indication in writing that he was representing either or both of the Respondents. The record shows that Respondents never inquired as to the status of their case for several months. CP 142.

On January 23, 2019, 85-days after Mr. Sargent's last contact with Richter's counsel, Richter was left with no choice but to file a motion for entry of default judgment and note a reasonableness hearing. CP 37-39; 85-87. On February 22, 2019, a reasonableness hearing was held before the trial court to establish the damages for entry of default judgment. CP 91-96. The trial court minutes from the reasonableness hearing notes the

Respondents were paged, were not present, and were not represented by counsel. CP 96.

At the February 22, 2019, reasonableness hearing, Richter provided the trial court with evidence of the unauthorized sales. CP 57-64; 68; 70. The evidence showed that Ms. Helinski had received money from unauthorized sales, failed to provide the product to customers, and provided fraudulent straws to customers. Id. Richter also provided the trial court with the inventory list still in Ms. Helinski's possession. CP 66. Richter also testified that as a direct result of Ms. Helinski's continued unauthorized sales and customer complaints, Richter was forced to shut down A-1, in an effort to prevent further damage. CP 50.

At the February 22, 2019, reasonableness hearing Richter testified and presented evidence showing damages in the amount of \$373,891.00, which included an award of attorneys' fees and costs of \$9,270.00. CP 48-84. Based on the evidence and testimony presented, the trial court entered a judgment against Ms. Helinski in the amount of \$373,891.00. CP 92-95.

On March 8, 2019, Richter filed an "Application for Writ of Garnishment" and "Application of Garnishment for Financial Institution." CP 97-103. On March 12, 2019, Richter began to execute his judgment, which caused Respondents to appear in this lawsuit for the first time. CP

104-110. On April 25, 2019, Respondents appeared in this action for the first time through new counsel by filing motion to set aside the default orders and have the judgment vacated. CP 111-113. In support of their motion, Respondents submitted a memorandum and declarations. CP 114-168. Richter submitted his response to Respondents' motion, which included a memorandum, declarations, and evidence supporting his judgment. CP 169-231.

On May 10, 2019, a hearing was held before the trial court on Respondents' motion to set aside the default orders and vacate the default judgment. CP 243-244. At the conclusion of the hearing, the trial court issued an order vacating the default orders and judgment. CP 243-244. In making its decision, the trial court found it was undisputed that Mr. Sargent did not file a notice of appearance and did not formally appear in the lawsuit. RP 20, ln. 10-14. The trial court also concluded that Mr. Sargent had not done enough to substantially comply with court rules, such that notice requirements must be met prior to entry of default. RP 23, ln. 6-15.

The trial court then applied the <u>White</u> factors to determine whether the judgment should be vacated. RP 23. With regard to the first <u>White</u> factor, whether there is at least a prima facie defense, the trial court found there was at least a prima facie defense to the lawsuit based solely upon

the self-serving statements provided by Ms. Helinski in her declaration. RP 24-25. Examining the second White factor, whether there was a mistake, inadvertence, surprise, or excusable neglect, the trial court concluded the Respondents could not meet this factor because Mr. Sargent did not comply with the court rules and do what he was obligated to do as a lawyer. RP 25, ln. 3-10. The trial court never specifically found the Respondents satisfied the second White factor. RP 24-26. The trial court ultimately concluded that based on the preferred policy of having a case decided on the merits as opposed to a default, the default orders and judgment should be vacated. RP 25-26.

As a result of the trial court's decision to set aside the default orders and vacate the default judgment, Richter appealed the trial court's decision to the Court of Appeals, Division III.

### C. <u>Division III Decision.</u>

On May 12, 2020, Division III issued a decision upholding the trial court's decision to set aside the default orders and vacate the default judgment. To justify the trial court's decision, Division III disregarded the Respondents' failure to show the failure to appear and defend was the result of a mistake or misunderstanding, and only consider the fact Ms. Helinski had met with Mr. Sargent prior to the answer to the lawsuit being due. Division III never considered whether the Respondents had managed

to inquire as to the status of their lawsuit in the six months between the default order and the default judgment being obtained by Richter. Division III came to the conclusion that Ms. Helinski was blameless and that was all that was necessary to justify relief from the default judgement.

By upholding the trial court's decision, Division III has disregarded the test set forth in the Supreme Court's decision in White v. Holm, 73 Wash.2d 348 (1968), requiring that a party show mistake, inadvertence, surprise, or excusable neglect to get relief from a default judgment. White v. Holm, 73 Wash.2d 348, 352 (1968). The Decision has created a new standard where despite a party failing to show mistake, inadvertence, surprise, or excusable neglect, a party may be granted relief from a default judgment by simply showing their attorney or insurer was responsible for the failure to appear. This is not the correct standard, and under this ruling there will be no occasion where a default judgment would be proper where a defendant shows a lawyer was hired.

Division III's Decision also renders the requirement to formally appear and answer meaningless, which is in direct conflict with the Supreme Court's holding in Morin v. Burris, 160 Wash.2d 745, 161 P.3d 956 (2007). Division III's ruling stands for the proposition that so long as a defendant hires a lawyer and does nothing more, a default judgment may be vacated in the event none of the formal rules of procedure requiring an

appearance and answer are followed. Prior case law granting relief to a defendant required a showing of at least mistake or some sort misunderstanding by a representative, agent or lawyer to justify relief from the default judgment. In this case, there are no facts or evidence in the record showing the failure to appear and defend the lawsuit was the result of a mistake or misunderstanding. The facts and evidence in the record show nothing more than neglect or a willful disregard for court rules and procedure.

Because Division III's Decision is in direct conflict with prior Supreme Court decisions and decisions of other Appellate Court, which affect the public interest, the Washington Supreme Court should accept review.

### V. <u>ARGUMENT</u>

### A. Standard of Review.

A trial court's decision to vacate a default judgment is reviewed for abuse of discretion. Yeck v. Dep't of Labor & Indus., 27 Wash.2d 92, 95, 176 P.2d 359 (1947). A trial court abuses its discretion if it makes a decision based on untenable ground or for untenable reasons. Braam v. State, 150 Wash.2d 689, 706, 81 P.3d 851 (2003).

## B. The Decision Disregards the Supreme Court Test in White v. Holm Requiring a Showing of Inadvertence, Mistake, Surprise or Excusable Neglect to Gain Relief from a Default Judgment.

The Decision recognizes that the trial court did not find the failure to appear, answer or otherwise defend the lawsuit was the result of a mistake, inadvertence, surprise or excusable neglect. Richter v. Helinski, 2020 WL 2392586 \* 3-4. In fact, the Decision recognizes the trial court found to the contrary. Id. As stated in the Decision, "The trial court ruled that, assuming we look only to the behavior of Robert Sargent, Allie Helinski did not show mistake, inadvertence, surprise or excusable neglect." Id. at \*7. Further, there was no evidence or argument presented by Respondents that Mr. Sargent's failure to appear, answer or defend the lawsuit was the result of some sort of mistake or misunderstanding regarding the defense of the case.

Rather than applying the established case law, Division III focused on Allie Helinski's conduct individually and completely ignored the conduct of her lawyer Mr. Sargent. <u>Id</u>. at \*8. Focusing solely on the conduct of Ms. Helinski, Division III found she was without fault and affirmed the trial court's decision to vacate Richter's default judgment. <u>Id</u>. Division III supported its decision by citing to case law, largely focusing on the failure of an insurer to establish a legal defense for its insured because of a mistake or misunderstanding. <u>Id</u>. "Therefore we

discern no reason to differentiate between a blameless defendant receiving relief from the inexcusable neglect of her insurance company and the faultless defendant getting relief from the inexcusable neglect of her attorney." Id.

The Decision seems to recognize an innocent insured doctrine as a general rule to grant relief from a default judgment, which does not exist in the State of Washington. 178 Wash. App. 526, 534-535, 315 P.3d 572, 576 (2013). "What is just and proper must be determined by the facts of each case, not by hard and fast rule application to all situations regardless of the outcome." Id., citing Little v. King, 160 Wash.2d 696, 703, 161 P.3d 345 (2007); Griggs v. Averbeck Realty, Inc., 92 Wash.2d 576, ,582, 599 P.2d 1289 (1979).

Division III ignores the longstanding principle of law that the sins of a lawyer are visited on the client. Rivers v. Washington State

Conference of Mason Contractors, 145 Wash.2d 674, 679, 41 P.3d 1175

(2002). There is no such law imputing the sins of an insurance carrier personally to its insured. Division III rejected Richter's precedent showing relief from a default judgment will not be granted where the failure to appear, answer or defend was the result of a breakdown on internal procedures. Rosander v. Nightrunners Transport, LTD, 147

Wash. App. 392, 407, 196 P.3d 711 (2008), citing TMT Bear Creek

Shopping Ctr. Inc. v. Petco Animal Supplies, Inc., 140 Wash. App. 191, 212, 165 P.3d 1271 (2007). Division III in this regard ignores Mr. Sargent's ethical duty as a licensed attorney in the State of Washington, and instead applies a standard for insurance companies.

Division III uses the caselaw showing a blameless insured may be granted relief from a default judgment as a result of the conduct of their insurer, but fails to recognize that in those cases there was also a showing of a mistake or misunderstanding in failing to appear or otherwise answer the lawsuit. See, White v. Holm, 73 Wash.2d 348, 438 P.2d 581 (1968) (holding default was properly vacated where there was a misunderstanding whether insurance would provide defense to lawsuit); Berger v. Dishman Dodge, Inc., 50 Wash. App. 309, 312, 748 P.2d 241 (1987) (holding default properly vacated where misunderstanding between insured and insurer as to who was responsible to answer the lawsuit); Ha v. Signal Electric, Inc., 182 Wash. App. 436, 332 P.3d 991 (2014) (holding default properly vacated where lawsuit was served on bankruptcy attorney, who provided lawsuit to financial advisor for company, who inadvertently provided lawsuit to wrong insurance carrier); Showalter v. Wild Oats, 124 Wash. App. 506, 101 P.3d 867 (2004) (holding default properly vacated where lawsuit was mistakenly not provided to counsel due to a request outside normal business

practices). Washington case law consistently requires a showing of mistake or misunderstanding in justifying relief from a default judgment when an insured/defendant is otherwise blameless.

At the heart of the White factors is whether the party seeking relief from the judgment intentionally ignored the obligation to respond. DeCaro v. Spokane County, 198 Wash. App. 638, 645, 394 P.3d 1042 (2017). Ms. Helinski states in her declaration that she never checked on the status of the lawsuit for several months. CP 142. Richter did not immediately seek a default judgment after a default order was entered against Ms. Helinski, but instead waited six months until February 22, 2019 to enter the default judgment. This is a significant fact because Ms. Helinski failed to inquire as to the status of the lawsuit. CP 142. Mr. Sargent's willful disregard for court rules and the Respondents failure to show interest in their defense completely halted the adversary process, leaving Richter no choice but to enter a default judgment. Johnson v. Cash Store, 116 Wash, App. 833, 848 (2003). Where there is no showing of a mistake or misunderstanding in failing to appear by counsel, and no showing Respondents inquired about the lawsuit, the negligence of Mr. Sargent is attributable to Respondents; making them not blameless for the resulting default judgment. Akhavuz v. Moody, 178 Wash. App. 526, 538-539, 315 P.3d 572 (2013).

Prior decisions "have repeatedly held that, if a company's failure to respond to a properly served summons and complaint was due to a break-down of internal office procedure, the failure was not excusable." Rosander v. Nightrunners Transport, LTD, 147 Wash. App. 392, 407, 196 P.3d 711 (2008), citing TMT Bear Creek Shopping Ctr. Inc. v. Petco Animal Supplies, Inc., 140 Wash. App. 191, 212, 165 P.3d 1271 (2007). Where the failure to appear or answer is the result of neglect, such as here, vacating a default is improper. See, Johnson v. Cash Store, 116 Wash, App. 833, 848-849, 68 P.3d 1099 (2003) (holding default is proper where an employee's unexplained failure to forward summons and complaint to counsel resulted in a default); TMT Bear Creek Shopping Center, Inc. v. Petco Animal Supplies, Inc. 140 Wash. App. 191, 165 P.3d 1271 (2007) (default was proper where deadline to respond to lawsuit was not properly calendared and failure to enact polices to ensure counsel received notice of lawsuit); Beckman v. Dep't of Social & Health Servs., 102 Wash. App. 687, 11 P.3d 313 (2000) (neglect in failing to institute office management procedures to catch administrative errors was inexcusable); Priest v. Am. Bankers Life Assurance Co., 79 Wash. App. 93, 900 P.2d 595 (1995) (neglect inexcusable when summons and complaint were mislaid while general counsel was out of town). Washington courts will not relieve a defendant from a judgment due to a willful disregard of process, or due to inattention or neglect in a case. Commercial Courier Service, Inc. v. Miller, 13 Wash. App. 98, 106, 533 P.2d 852 (1975).

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