FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
7/9/2020 3:17 PM
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON
CLERK

Supreme Court No. 98651-7 Court of Appeals No. 368220-III

# SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

JENS RICHTER, as an individual d/b/a GLOBAL EQUINE SIRES and A-1 PERFORMANCE SIRES, Petitioner,

v.

ALLIE HELINSKI and BRENT HELINSKI, individually and the marital community thereof, Respondents.

#### ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

Andrea L. Asan, WSBA No. 35395 Douglas C. McDermott, WSBA No. 31500 PAUKERT & TROPPMANN, PLLC 522 West Riverside Avenue, Suite 560 Spokane, Washington 99201 Telephone: (509) 232-7760

Facsimile: (509) 232-7762

Attorneys for Respondents Helinskis

#

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

After listening to the argument and considering the briefs and written testimony submitted by counsel, Judge McKay focused the rationale for her decision on three cases: *Morin v. Burris*, 160 Wn.2d 745, 161 P.3d 956 (2007), *Meade v. Nelson*, 174 Wn. App. 740, 300 P.3d 828 (2013), and *White v. Holm*, 73 Wn. 2d 348, 438 P.2d 581 (1968). (RP 19, 26.) Recognizing that defaults are not favored and that a case should be heard on its merits, Judge McKay spent time analyzing the relevant authority prior to rendering her decision. (RP 19-20.)

Turning to *White*, the Court first discussed the defense to Richter's main claim that "semen was converted, taken, and not returned." (RP 24.) Judge McKay concluded that there is at least a prima facie defense to Richter's conversion claim based on the declaration of Allie that the "semen

wasn't converted, it was not viable." (RP 24-25.) Judge McKay found evidence of mistake, inadvertence, surprise, and excusable neglect, noting that the Helinskis had "done what they need to," and for whatever reason Mr. Sargent did not file a proper notice of appearance, but did make contact with Appellant's counsel in his own way. (RP 25-26.)

The Court went on to state: "I analyze that by looking at this case from the perspective of coming back to the purpose of and the overall liberal application of setting aside defaults, and the purpose that really is to go to resolution of cases on their merits versus defaults." (RP 25.) Judge McKay then vacated the default orders and default judgment, which gave rise to the appeal and this petition for review. (RP 26.) Prior to signing the order, however, Judge McKay stated: "Again, I want to make sure the record is very clear that I have contemplated the facts in this case, as well as the law that has been provided by counsel, to reach my decision to grant the motion to vacate the two defaults, as well as the default judgment." (RP 26.)

#### C. Court of Appeals May 12, 2020 Unpublished Opinion

On May 12, 2020, in an unpublished opinion, the Court of Appeals affirmed the trial court's ruling for two reasons. (Op. 1.) First, the Court of Appeals affirmed the vacation of the default order and default judgment against Brent because Richter failed to address in his appeal certain unique facts relating to service of process on Brent and other matters relating specifically to Brent. (Op. 9-10.) The Court of Appeals specifically ruled as follows:

Although Jens Richter frames his assignments of error in terms that the trial court erred in vacating the judgment against both Allie and Brent Helinski, Richter, in his argument, focuses only on the default order and default judgment against Allie. Richter never discusses the disparate facts concerning the service on Brent Helinski and [the events that took place] before entry of the default order against Brent. For this reason alone, we affirm the vacation of the default order and judgment against Brent Helinski.

(Op. 9-10.)

Second, the Court of Appeals affirmed the vacation of the default orders and default judgment against *both* Brent and Allie under CR 60(b)(1) because "Helinski presented a prima facie defense for all factual allegations that comprise the various causes of action asserted by Jens Richter," and "[a]lthough the trial court did not expressly state that, if we look only to the conduct of Allie Helinski, mistake, inadvertence, surprise or excusable neglect would be present, the court's ruling inevitably leads to this conclusion and the undisputed facts support such a conclusion." (Op. 14, 17.)

As indicated previously, Richter does not seek review of the portion of the COA Decision addressing only Brent. Richter only seeks review of the portion of the COA Decision affirming the vacation of the default orders and default judgment against both Allie and Brent under CR 60(b)(1).

#### VI. ARGUMENT

RAP 13.4(b) sets forth four considerations that govern acceptance of review of a decision terminating review. The rule states as follows:

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> The Court of Appeals noted earlier in the Decision that "[t]he analysis we perform concerning the vacations in favor of Allie Helinski would also apply to Brent."

**(b)** Considerations Governing Acceptance of Review. A petition for review will be accepted by the Supreme Court only: (1) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court; or (2) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a published decision of the Court of Appeals; or (3) If a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States is involved; or (4) If the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court.

Richter does not specify the subpart under which he is seeking review. Although Richter alleges that the COA Decision conflicts with the Supreme Court decisions in *White* and *Morin*, Richter also alleges that the COA Decision conflicts with various Court of Appeals decisions interpreting the test outlined in *White* for showing mistake, inadvertence, surprise, and/or excusable neglect. Accordingly, the Helinskis will assume that Richter is seeking review under RAP 13.4(b)(1) *and* (2).

As a preliminary matter, it is important to note that there is no Supreme Court decision or published Court of Appeals decision that *requires* courts to consider the conduct of a blameless defendant's attorney when determining whether the defendant's failure to timely appear and answer was due to mistake, inadvertence, surprise, and/or excusable neglect.<sup>4</sup> Richter does not cite any such decisions, and the Helinskis are not aware of any such decisions. *Therefore, as a general proposition, there is no actual conflict between the COA Decision and any published decision,* 

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Richter tries to place some blame on the Helinskis, arguing that Allie failed to check on the status of the litigation for several months, and she therefore is not blameless. But Richter failed to raise that issue below. The Court of Appeals noted that "Jens Richter does not contend that Helinski failed to act promptly or properly." (Op. 17.) Accordingly, Richter cannot challenge that issue at this stage of the proceedings.

thereby precluding review under RAP 13.4(b)(1) and (2). Although this alone ends the inquiry, the arguments in Richter's Petition for Review are addressed more specifically below.

# A. The COA Decision Does Not Conflict With White or Any Decisions Interpreting White

Richter does not, and cannot, articulate any conflict between the COA Decision and *White*. Instead, Richter attempts to manufacture a conflict by arguing that the COA Decision conflicts with various other decisions interpreting the test set forth in *White*. Richter argues that the COA Decision conflicts with these other decisions because (1) it ignores a rule of law that the sins of a lawyer are visited on the client, (2) it ignores decisions finding that a breakdown of internal office procedure was not excusable under CR 60(b)(1), and (3) it improperly relies on cases involving blameless insureds. For reasons discussed below, however, all of Richter's arguments are misplaced.

First, although there *is* a rule of law that the sins of a lawyer are visited on the client, *this rule of law does not apply to default proceedings*. *Ha v. Signal Electric, Inc.*, 182 Wn. App. 436, 452-53, 332 P.3d 991 (2014). In *Ha*, the plaintiff referenced this exact same rule of law and argued that "the incompetence or neglect of a party's own attorney is not sufficient grounds for relief from a judgment in a civil case." *Id.* at 452. The *Ha* court expressly rejected this argument, ruling as follows:

This rule comes from the Washington Supreme Court's decision in *Haller*, 89 Wn.2d at 547. There, the client sought relief from a settlement that her attorney agreed to over her objections. *Id.* at 540, 542. The *Haller* court

distinguished the equities at play in consent judgments like settlements versus default judgments. *Id.* at 544. Finality is favored in consent judgments. *Id.* As such, consent judgments may not be set aside for excusable neglect—only for fraud or mutual mistake. *Id.* Conversely, default judgments are disfavored, because courts prefer to try cases on their merits. They can be set aside under CR 60(b)(1) for excusable neglect and, as the case law demonstrates, unilateral mistake.

Therefore, the rule from the Haller line of cases that Ha relies on here has no application to default judgments. None of those cases involved a default judgment. Rather, with respect to default judgments, "[w]hat is just and proper must be determined by the facts of each case, not by a hard and fast rule applicable to all situations regardless of the outcome."

*Id.* at 452-53 (emphasis added) (some citations and footnotes omitted).

Accordingly, since the rule that Richter relies on "has no application to default judgments," there can be no conflict between that rule and the COA Decision.

Second, although some courts have found that a breakdown of internal office procedure was not excusable under CR 60(b)(1), the Court of Appeals correctly ruled that those cases are distinguishable because they apply to culpable corporate defendants, not blameless individual defendants. (Op. 17.) (holding as follows: "Richter relies on many Washington decisions when a corporate defendant, through a failure of internal procedures, failed to timely appear and answer. Richter fails to recognize that his defendant, Allie Helinski, is without blame.")

In the present case, there was no breakdown of internal office procedure, and it is undisputed that the Helinskis themselves are blameless. Their failure to appear and answer was not the result of their conduct or any

office employee's conduct. It was the result of their attorney's conduct. Therefore, the Court of Appeals correctly distinguished this case from the cases cited by Richter.

But even if those cases were not distinguishable—though they are—none of those decisions stands for the proposition that a breakdown of internal procedure is *never* excusable under CR 60(b)(1). To the contrary, it is well-established that "[w]hat is just and proper must be determined by the facts of each case, not by a hard and fast rule applicable to all situations regardless of the outcome." *Akhavuz v. Moody*, 178 Wn. App. 526, 534-35, 315 P.2d 572 (2013). Therefore, the Court of Appeals was free to determine, as it did, that the conduct at issue in this case was excusable, and because of the flexibility afforded to courts in making this determination and the fact-specific nature of each inquiry, the COA Decision in this regard cannot be said to conflict with any decisions cited by Richter.

Third, the Court of Appeals correctly analogized this case to decisions where the negligence of an insurance company lead to a failure of an attorney to appear on behalf of an innocent insured. (Op. 17.) Although Richter attempts to portray the COA Decision as having enacted some sort of "innocent insured doctrine," whereby an innocent insured can vacate a default even in the absence of evidence showing some sort of mistake or misunderstanding, Richter's argument misses the mark.

The COA Decision did not enact a blanket doctrine that allows relief from default in the absence of mistake, inadvertence, surprise, or excusable neglect. The COA Decision recognized that in cases involving an innocent insured, courts focus on whether the defendant, not the insurer, acted with excusable neglect. The Court of Appeals then stated, "we discern no reason to differentiate between a blameless defendant receiving relief from the inexcusable neglect of her insurance company and a faultless defendant getting relief from the inexcusable inadvertence of her attorney." (Op. 18.)

Based upon this reasoning, the Court of Appeals focused on the Helinskis's conduct and ultimately determined that the undisputed facts support a conclusion that the Helinskis themselves are without blame and that the Helinskis' failure to timely appear and answer was due to mistake, inadvertence, surprise, and excusable neglect. This finding does not conflict with any published decision. To the contrary, it is a logical extension of the line of decisions addressing innocent insureds.

For all of these reasons, the COA Decision does not conflict with *White* or any decisions interpreting *White*. Therefore, this Court should deny review under RAP 13.4(b)(1) and (2).

#### B. The COA Decision Does Not Conflict With Morin

The COA Decision also does not conflict with *Morin*. Richter states that *Morin* "expressly rejected adopting the informal appearance doctrine in the State of Washington." (Pet. for Rev. 17.) Thus, according to Richter, the COA Decision conflicts with *Morin* because the COA Decision implicitly endorses the type of conduct that the *Morin* court rejected. There are three problems with this argument.

First, Richter mischaracterizes the holding in *Morin*. The *Morin* court did not expressly reject the informal appearance doctrine in the State

of Washington. 160 Wn.2d at 757-60. The *Morin* court rejected the proposition that pre-litigation contacts alone may satisfy appearance requirements, but it acknowledged that a party *can* enter an informal appearance through conduct that occurs after litigation has commenced. *Id.* (ruling as follows: "Accordingly, we hold that parties cannot substantially comply with the appearance rules through prelitigation contacts. Parties must take some action acknowledging that the dispute is in court Before [sic] they are entitled to a notice of default judgment hearing.... We do not exalt form over substance and appearance may be accomplished informally.")

Second, the informal appearance doctrine is irrelevant to the issues before this Court. As indicated above, the informal appearance doctrine affects a party's entitlement to notice before entry of a default. *Id.* at 749. If a party enters an informal appearance, they are entitled to notice before entry of a default, and if they do not receive proper notice, they are entitled to have the default vacated. *Id.* 

In the present case, the Court of Appeals did not address whether Richter needed to give notice before entry of the defaults. (Op. 10.)<sup>5</sup> The Court of Appeals simply affirmed the vacation of the default orders and default judgment under CR 60(b)(1). Accordingly, *Morin's* discussion of the informal appearance doctrine is inapplicable to this case.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Though it is clear in this case that Mr. Sargent made numerous attempts to contact Richter's attorneys after litigation was commenced, thereby satisfying the informal appearance rule set forth in *Morin*.

Third, the only relevant part of the *Morin* court's ruling is entirely consistent with the COA Decision. The *Morin* court ruled that in cases like this, where Mr. Sargent's lack of appearance is not at issue and Richter did not give notice, the Helinskis "may still be entitled to have default judgment set aside upon other well established grounds." 160 Wn.2d at 757. In other words, *Morin* supports the proposition that notwithstanding lack of notice, the Helinskis are entitled to have the default judgment set aside under CR 60(b)(1) if they satisfy the test set forth in *White*, which is precisely what they did. Accordingly, far from being inconsistent, *Morin* is entirely consistent with the conclusion reached by the Court of Appeals in this case.

#### VII. CONCLUSION

Ultimately, Richter's Petition for Review does not identify any actual conflict between the COA Decision and any Supreme Court decision or published Court of Appeals decision. Instead, it simply reiterates many of the same arguments that were properly rejected by the Court of Appeals. But this is not a forum to relitigate issues. The only issue before this Court is whether the unpublished COA Decision conflicts any published decisions, and in cases like this, where "[w]hat is just and proper must be determined by the facts of each case, not by a hard and fast rule applicable to all situations regardless of the outcome," that is a heavy burden to carry, and one that Richter falls short on. *Ha*, 182 Wn. App. at 453.

For all of the foregoing reasons, this Court should deny review under RAP 13.4(b)(1) and (2).